IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-2284

GUILLERMO OCTAVIO ARBELAEZ, Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TODD G. SCHER Special Assistant CCRC-South Fla. Bar No. 0899641 Law Office of Todd G. Scher, P.L. 555 N.E. 34th Street #1510 Miami, FL 33137

(305) 576-3221

MARIAN GARCIA PEREZ Assistant CCRC-South Fla. Bar No. 383007 CCRC-South 101 N.E. Third Avenue, Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Arbelaez was indicted by the grand jury in Dade County, Florida, on April 27, 1988, for first-degree murder and kidnapping (R. 1). Jury trial commenced February 11, 1991. The jury found Mr. Arbelaez guilty of both counts. The penalty phase took place on March 4, 1991. The jury rendered a sentencing verdict of death by a vote of eleven to one (R. 1056). On March 14, 1991, the trial court sentenced Mr. Arbelaez to death (2d Supp. R. 22). The trial court entered written findings (R. 246). A timely direct appeal was filed in this Court, and this Court affirmed.¹ *Arbelaez v. State*, 626 So. 2d 169 (Fla. 1993), *cert. denied*, 114 S. Ct. 2123 (1994).

Mr. Arbelaez thereafter sought postconviction relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850/3.851.² After the lower court summarily denied relief as to all issues

¹Mr. Arbelaez' appellate counsel, who was also trial counsel, filed an Initial Brief consisting of nine (9) pages of argument addressing two guilt phase issues. The Attorney General's Office moved to strike the brief as insufficient because it failed to raise any issues as to the death sentence. Appellate counsel objected to the request of the Attorney General's Office, but this Court ordered appellate counsel to file a supplemental brief addressing sentencing issues. Thereafter, appellate counsel filed a supplemental brief raising three (3) arguments totaling less than three and a half pages.

²Mr. Arbelaez was also the lead named party in litigation involving the funding issues of the CCRC office. *Arbelaez v. Butterworth*, 738 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 1999).

presented by Mr. Arbelaez, this Court reversed in part and remanded for an evidentiary hearing on the penalty phase ineffective assistance of counsel claim. *Arbelaez v. State*, 775 So. 2d 909 (Fla. 2000).

After jurisdiction returned to the lower court, Mr. Arbelaez filed a motion to disqualify the judge (S.R. ____). The motion was orally denied without a written order being entered by the court (PCR294; 303). The State subsequently moved for an order compelling the disclosure of Mr. Arbelaez's correctionsmedical records, as well as for the appointment of an expert to examine Mr. Arbelaez for the evidentiary hearing (PCR31-33; 34; 47; 38-50). The evidentiary hearing was conducted in two parts in January, 2002 (PCR419-1160; 1166-1239). Following the submission of post-hearing memoranda by the parties (PCR71-95; 98-205), the trial court entered an order denying relief on September 12, 2002 (S.R. ____).³ Just prior to the court's entering the order denying relief, Mr. Arbelaez filed a supplemental Rule 3.850 motion, addressing aspects of the then-recent decisions in Ring v. Arizona, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002), and Atkins v. Virginia, 122 S. Ct. 2242 (2002) (PCR243). In an order signed on September 18, 2002, but not filed with the

³The order was inexplicably not included in the record, and Mr. Arbelaez is simultaneously filing a motion to supplement the record with this order, as well as the motion to disqualify, discussed above. For purposes of this brief, the order denying relief will be referred to as "Order" and the relevant page number.

clerk until September 25, 2002, the lower court denied the supplemental claims (PCR245-46). A timely notice of appeal was filed (PCR248-49).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At the evidentiary hearing ordered by this Court, Mr. Arbelaez presented the testimony of his trial counsel, Reemberto Diaz, Dr. Merry Haber, Dr. Ruth Latterner, Amparo Arbelaez Alvarez, and . The State called Lisa Wiley, Dr. Sonia Ruiz, and recalled trial counsel Diaz. A summary of these witness' testimony is set forth below.

A. Defense Witnesses.

Reemberto Diaz. Mr. Diaz has been a licenced attorney since 1979

(PCR466-67). Mr. Arbelaez was originally represented by the Public Defender's Office, but he later was appointed to take over the case (PCR469). At the time he represented Mr. Arbelaez, Mr. Diaz had never represented a capital defendant as lead counsel in a case going to a penalty phase (PCR470). Mr. Diaz never sought the appointment of a second chair to assist him in Mr. Arbelaez's case (PCR471). He also never sought an order from the court to engage the services of an investigator (PCR472). Likewise, he never requested the appointment of a mental health expert to assist the defense in terms of investigating and developing a case for mitigation, although he did request that the court appoint an expert–Dr.

Castiello-to evaluate the issues of competency and sanity (PCR472-73). Mr. Diaz did not know if the Public Defender's Office had ever asked for a confidential expert to assist in investigating and developing a case in mitigation on behalf of Mr. Arbelaez (PCR473-74). He did not recall ever talking to a Dr. Merry Haber about Mr. Arbelaez's case or whether she had been involved with the case until the late 1990s, well after Mr. Arbelaez's trial (PCR474). He would have had no reason not to have spoken with Dr. Haber at the time of Mr. Arbelaez's trial (PCR475). If she had useful information to be considered in terms of potential mitigating circumstances for Mr. Arbelaez, "of course" he would have called her to testify at the penalty phase (*Id.*). He had no independent recollection of "what we did, if anything" with respect to Dr. Haber (*Id.*).

Mr. Arbelaez's family resided in Medellin, Colombia, and although he did have some contact with them he could not recall any specifics (PCR476). These contacts would have been by telephone, as he did not actually go to Colombia (*Id.*). He contacted them as a courtesy because they were family members of Mr. Arbelaez, and also to see if there was anything "to use from them or not use" (*Id*). Mr. Diaz recalled that there was an issue about law enforcement having had contact with members of Mr. Arbelaez's family–specifically his mother and brother–with respect to guilt phase issues (*Id.*). In fact, Mr. Arbelaez's mother, Margarita Arbelaez, and brother, Jorge Arbelaez, were listed as witnesses at the guilt phase by the State (PCR477). A documentary exhibit established that these witnesses had been listed by the State, and that the previous attorney from the Public Defender's Office had requested the State to provide addresses for Mr. Arbelaez's mother and brother (PCR477-78).

With respect to Mr. Diaz's conversations with the family, Mr. Diaz would not classify their content as relating to do with "potential mitigation" but rather general issues about Mr. Arbelaez's background with an eye towards discovering what information the family had about why the family members were listed as guilt phase witnesses by the State and what communications they had had with Mr. Arbelaez after he left Miami, went to Puerto Rico, and then to Colombia after the crime (PCR478-79). He had no independent recollection of having informed the trial court of his intention of calling family members at the penalty phase, but trusted that the record would be correct in that regard (PCR479). Although he did ask the court for permission to bring family members to Miami to testify at the penalty phase, he asks for a lot of things but "[t]hat does not mean I'm actually going to do it" (PCR487). No family members from Colombia were ever called at the penalty phase (PCR480). He did not recall having received any written correspondence from Mr. Arbelaez's family members, and while he had some

information about Mr. Arbelaez's background in Colombia, he did not recall the sources of that information (PCR480-81). He recalled knowing that Mr. Arbelaez was an altar boy, had problems with acne, had trouble with epilepsy, and "some allegation that he attempted to kill himself once" (PCR481). He had no independent recollection of this information, only that these things "rang familiar" after reading documents provided to him at the evidentiary hearing (*Id.*). The information was in the form of a letter from Mr. Arbelaez's mother to Mr. Diaz dated February 20, 1991, which Mr. Diaz never recalled having seen before; the letter was introduced into evidence as Defense Exhibit F (PCR481-82).

Although he had been made aware that Mr. Arbelaez "had had some problems" in Colombia, he could not state that he had been specifically aware that Mr. Arbelaez had been hospitalized in mental hospitals in Colombia (PCR483). He acknowledged that somewhere in his file was a document from a mental hospital in Colombia indicating that there were no records but "maybe we will find something," which was an "odd response" (PCR483). Mr. Diaz remembered there was a conversation "along the line with somebody" about trying to find records not in the official but in the doctor's own files that were not made part of the public file from Colombia, which records may have been important in terms of mitigation (PCR484). He identified a note from his file dated April 2, which indicated that Mr. Arbelaez's family in Colombia had contacted him and "are going to send you some records from here of when he was hospitalized in a mental hospital. They are trying as much as possible to help him" (PCR485). The note was introduced into evidence as Defense Exhibit F (PCR486-87).

On cross-examination, Mr. Diaz clarified that while he had not actually conducted a penalty phase, he had prepared for them in other cases (PCR489). Any attorney doing a capital case knows that you cannot completely separate out the preparation for the guilt phase and the penalty phase (PCR490). He explained that he did not ask for a second chair attorney because "no one was being appointed to do penalty phases" (PCR491). If you were appointed, "you did the whole case" (*Id.*). He did not seek the appointment for an investigator because of the detailed nature of the police investigation and he did his own "legwork" in terms of visiting the crime scene and go to people's houses (PCR492). He recalled having had communication with Mr. Arbelaez about the prior public defender and the possibility of a plea negotiation to avoid the death penalty, but Mr. Arbelaez did not want to discuss a plea negotiation (PCR495).

After reviewing the competency report from Dr. Castiello and speaking with him, Mr. Diaz did not feel the need to obtain a mental health expert of his own, although he did continue to pursue the issue of Mr. Arbelaez's epilepsy (PCR49798). Mr. Diaz also determined that Mr. Arbelaez had a "pretty good" recollection of the events surrounding the incident, and he concluded that if epilepsy had played a role, "he wouldn't have had a memory of it" (PCR499).

Dr. Castiello prepared a report, dated December 9, 1990, which, together with the information about the various admissions that Mr. Arbelaez had made about the incident, formed the basis for Mr. Diaz's strategy at the penalty phase (PCR502). Prior to trial, Mr. Diaz had discussed with Mr. Arbelaez the issue of him testifying at the guilt phase, and, as part of his preparation for the penalty phase, Mr. Diaz was not planning on calling Mr. Arbelaez at the guilt phase (PCR503). He told him he did not want him to testify (Id.). Mr. Arbelaez did in fact testify at the guilt phase (PCR506). He had provided more than one version of how the victim had died (PCR506-08). If Mr. Arbelaez had not testified at the guilt phase, his preparation for the penalty phase "[p]robably" would have been different in that Mr. Diaz would have been better able to stress Mr. Arbelaez's return to the United States and take responsibility for his actions and that it was an accident (PCR512).

At the penalty phase, Mr. Diaz did present evidence as to the fact that Mr. Arbelaez had no significant prior criminal background, as well as a co-worker who discussed that Mr. Arbelaez was a "good guy" and a "hard worker" (PCR509). He also presented several members of the Salazar family about Mr. Arbelaez's positive attributes and remorse (PCR510-12). He also called Dr. Raul Lopez about his interactions with Mr. Arbelaez from 1984 to 1988 regarding Mr. Arbelaez's epilepsy (PCR514-15).

Mr. Diaz also testified that he recently was made aware that Dr. Merry Haber, whose services had been engaged by prior counsel, had not made a report (PCR517). Unless Dr. Haber had given prior counsel her notes, Mr. Diaz would have had no knowledge of her involvement in Mr. Arbelaez's case (*Id*.). If he had had information from Dr. Haber which essentially indicated that there was "nothing unusual" about Mr. Arbelaez, he would have written that off and "move[d] on to plan B, I guess" (PCR519).

Mr. Diaz recalled having discussed with Mr. Arbelaez the issue of bringing family members to Miami to testify, but Mr. Arbelaez did not want him to, although "it wasn't an outright no" (PCR521). By the time of the penalty phase, Mr. Diaz "made a determination that [the family members] really didn't want to be here or it wasn't a good idea for them to be here before the trial" (PCR521-22). Then, during the trial, the strategy changed due to Mr. Arbelaez's own testimony (PCR522). Moreover, the family had to get from Medellin to Bogota, where they would have to go to the American Embassy and speak to an Agent Munoz who had elicited the incriminating statements from Mr. Arbelaez and of whom Mr. Arbelaez was "not very fond" (PCR522). Because the family would "have to" speak to Munoz in order to get a visa and "we know what would happen" if they went through Bogota (*Id.*). Mr. Diaz "quickly disregarded" the option of going to Colombia to depose the family because "you are not going to travel to Colombia without some protection" (PCR523). Moreover, Mr. Arbelaez was concerned about perceptions in Colombia about why his family would be coming to Miami to testify in a judicial proceeding (PCR524).

Moreover, issues about the "rough childhood" of the defendant is "tricky" when the victim is a child, and you have to be "very careful how a jury reacts to certain things" (PCR525-26). Mr. Arbelaez did not disagree with the determination not to call any family members at the penalty phase (PCR526).

Mr. Diaz recalled only speaking with one member of Mr. Arbelaez's family, his brother Jorge (PCR526). Jorge was the same person who spoke with Miami Detective Eddie Martinez (*Id.*). It was from these conversations that Mr. Diaz would have tried to get any information about Mr. Arbelaez (PCR527). There were no communication problems, as Mr. Diaz speaks fluent Spanish (*Id.*). This was the source of the note indicating that the family would be getting him some records about Mr. Arbelaez (PCR528). He never received any records from the family (PCR529). He reiterated that he did have a letter from a social services department in Colombia indicating that there were no records about Mr. Arbelaez in their historical archives but that they would continue searching (PCR520). This was the "odd" response that Mr. Diaz had earlier discussed, as he had "never seen anything like this" (*Id.*). The document does not rule out the possibility that Mr. Arbelaez may have been treated by someone and those records not placed in this department's archives (PCR531). Mr. Diaz was not aware that the family made any efforts to locate any documents and send them to him (*Id.*).

On redirect examination, Mr. Diaz acknowledged that the letter from the Colombian social services department was dated April, 1988, well before Mr. Diaz himself got involved in Mr. Arbelaez's case (PCR532). Once he took over the case, he personally never went to Colombia to search for any records, nor sent anyone such as investigator to search for records or locate any of Mr. Arbelaez's physicians (PCR534). He never looked for, or had anyone look for, any of Mr. Arbelaez's teachers (*Id.*). He could not state how many conversations he had with Mr. Arbelaez's family members, but it was certainly not daily contact (PCR 534-35). Mr. Arbelaez's family did not outright refuse to come to Miami, that was just "sort of" the conclusion that Mr. Diaz (PCR535). By saying that they were not coming to Miami, Mr. Diaz did not mean that the family did not care about Mr. Arbelaez (PCR536). He then conceded that he had never even gotten to the stage of asking the family members to travel to Miami to testify at the penalty phase because he had decided "that was not going to happen" (PCR537).

Mr. Diaz explained that Mr. Arbelaez had a "general fear" with respect to his family having to go to Bogota and deal with Agent Munoz (PCR538). Mr. Diaz assumed that Munoz was not the only employee of the American Embassy, however, and acknowledged that that problem could have been resolved with a phone call to the embassy to try and have the family deal with someone else (PCR539). Mr. Diaz, however, did not want or need Agent Munoz to be fired (*Id.*).

The only specifics about Mr. Arbelaez's family that Mr. Diaz testified that "some of the things that come to my head" are that Mr. Arbelaez had been an altar boy, was poor, and did not have an adequate education (PCR541). He acknowledged that poverty can be a mitigating circumstance but only if you link it to "other facts"; on its own, poverty is not mitigation, and he would not say that "being poor is an excuse for killing somebody" (PCR542). Mr. Diaz "supposed" that issues of poverty and other matters relating to a defendant's background required a great deal of preparation (*Id.*). He reiterated his concerns about calling Mr. Arbelaez's mother due to statements she was aware of that Mr. Arbelaez had

made, but did not have any explanation for using other family members aside from the mother (PCR543-45).

As for Dr. Merry Haber, Mr. Diaz reiterated having no recollection of her involvement in the case, and did not recall making a decision not to call her since he did not remember ever speaking with her (PCR546). As for Dr. Castiello's involvement, Mr. Diaz acknowledged that there were differences between a competency/sanity evaluation and penalty phase mitigation evaluation (*Id*.). He had no recollection of how long Dr. Castiello spent with Mr. Arbelaez (PCR547). Mr. Arbelaez did provide Dr. Castiello with information about his background in Colombia as reflected in the report (*Id*.). Instead of obtaining the services of an investigator, Mr. Diaz instead believed it was "great lawyering" to himself speak to witnesses and review the crime scene (PCR548).

Dr. Merry Haber. Dr. Haber is a clinical and forensic psychologist qualified to testify as an expert on numerous occasions (PCR554-55). Without objection, Dr. Haber was admitted as an expert (PCR555).

In May, 1988, she was appointed to conduct an evaluation of Mr. Arbelaez at the behest of Rodney Thaxton, an attorney with the Public Defender's Office (PCR556). Her work on the case encompassed the time period of June, 1988, through May, 1989 (*Id.*). The purpose of her evaluation was essentially to assess Mr. Arbelaez's competency (PCR558). She did have notes from her evaluations of Mr. Arbelaez (*Id.*). Her notes reflected, for example, that Mr. Arbelaez revealed to her his background in Medellin, including sleeping in a church where he worked, that he was unhappy there, that he drank poison two times, that he had five years of schooling, a medical history of epilepsy, his work as a dishwasher in Miami, and admitted use of marijuana in the past (PCR558-59). She did not classify this first evaluation as in-depth, but rather a "very brief" screening evaluation "to see if there was anything that was dramatic" and to see if he was competent (PCR559). Her standard procedure after the evaluation would be to talk with the attorney about the results (PCR560).

At some point during her involvement with the case, Dr. Haber's bill reflected that she had also reviewed Mr. Arbelaez's jail medical records, copies of which were in her file (PCR560-62). The records revealed notations that Mr. Arbelaez had a seizure disorder and a "psych disorder" (PCR561). The jail medical records also revealed that Mr. Arbelaez had two previous suicide attempts (PCR562).

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