IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC02-2284

GUILLERMO OCTAVIO ARBELAEZ,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

* * *

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Leslie T. Campbell
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No.: 0066631
1515 North Flagler Drive
9th Floor
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Telephone: (561) 837-5000
Facsimile: (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

It is the State's position that the Sixth Amendment claim is not preserved as such was not raised before the trial court. Further, because Arbelaez's convictions have been rendered and sentences fixed, neither the Fifth nor Sixth Amendment is implicated. Likewise, the fact that Arbelaez is serving his prison time during which he partakes in offered mental health services or is in a position to be observed does not create a custodial setting implicating the Fifth Amendment. The denial of the motion to exclude Wiley from testifying was proper and should be affirmed.

The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and the trial court's ruling will not be reversed unless there has been a clear abuse of that discretion.

Ray v. State, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000); Zack v. State,

753 So. 2d 9, 25 (Fla. 2000); Cole v. State, 701 So. 2d 845, 854 (Fla. 1997); Jent v. State, 408 So. 2d 1024, 1039 (Fla. 1981). Under the abuse of discretion standard of review, the appellate court pays substantial deference to the trial court's ruling and such will be upheld unless it "is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable." Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980). See Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053, n. 2 (Fla. 2000), citing Huff v. State, 569 So. 2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990).

Arbelaez failed to present his Sixth Amendment argument to the trial court. It is well established that for an issue to be preserved for appeal, it must be presented to the lower court and "the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal must be part of that presentation if it is to be considered preserved." Archer v. State, 613 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1993). See Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). The Sixth Amendment claim is not before this court properly as it was not presented to the trial court. Because of Arbelaez's failure, this Court should reject the claim.

Turning to the merits of Arbelaez's Fifth Amendment claims, such are without legal support. Upon Arbelaez's conviction becoming final and sentence being fixed, there can be no further incrimination, and therefore, the Fifth Amendment privilege no

longer applies. "[T]he ordinary rule is that once a person is convicted of a crime, he no longer has the privilege against self-incrimination as he can no longer be incriminated by his testimony about said crime... "Reina v. United States, 364 U.S. 507, 513 (1960) (citing United States v. Romero, 2 Cir., 249 F.2d 371; 8 Wigmore, Evidence (3d ed. 1940), s 2279; Cf. Brown v. Walker, 161 U.S. 591, 597-600 (1896)). Recently, the United States Supreme Court explained that this general rule applies once the sentence has become fixed and the conviction final. Mitchell v. United States, 526 U.S. 314, 326 (1999) (concluding Fifth Amendment privilege no longer applies once "sentence has become fixed and the judgment of conviction has become final").

Based upon this well settled case law explained in Mitchell and Reina, the prison employees did not have to provide Arbelaez with Miranda warning before talking to him or observing his behavior. This situation is vastly different from Estell v. Smith, 451 U.S. 454 (1981) where there had yet to be a sentencing determination and the pre-trial competency discussion were utilized to give the maximum sentence. Here, Arbelaez's conviction and sentence were settled and he faced nothing further arising from the criminal conviction. Hence, Wiley was not required to Mirandize Arbelaez nor was she barred from revealing her discussions with and observations of him.

The State's ability to present witnesses from the prison, including mental health professional, to discuss a defendant's actions related to mental health irrespective of Fifth Amendment concerns is especially true where the defendant puts his mental health at issue. It was Arbelaez's postconviction claim that he was mentally retarded, suffered from epilepsy, and had other mental health problems which trial counsel failed to discover and present. Probative of the claim of mental retardation was Arbelaez's adaptability. See sections 916.106 and 921.137, Florida Statutes. Also relevant was the impact death row had on Arbeleaz given the fact that his new expert did not examine him until some six years after his incarceration on death row. Wiley, having had contact with Arbelaez since he was placed on death in position row, was the to observe his behavior/adaptability and to compare his initial condition upon arrival on death row with his current condition. Cf. Arbelaez, 916-17 (reaffirming 775 So. 2d at defendant waives attorney/client privilege when he alleges ineffective assistance of counsel) (citing Reed v. State, 640 So. 2d 1094, 1097 (Fla. 1994); <u>LeCroy v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 853 (Fla. 1994); <u>Turner v.</u> <u>State</u>, 530 So. 2d 45, 46 (Fla. 1987)); <u>Buchanan v. Kentucky</u>, 483 U.S. 402 (1987) (finding no Fifth or Sixth Amendment violations, even in pre-conviction/pre-sentence setting, where a defendant

puts his mental health at issue, the state may rebut the evidence with other psychiatric evidence); <u>Dillbeck v. State</u>, 643 So. 2d 1027 (Fla. 1994) (holding defendant who puts his mental status at issue may be compelled to submit to exam by state psychiatrist or psychologist).

Moreover, Arbelaez had the right to refuse to participate in mental health discussions with Wiley, hence, there were no compelled disclosures, and again, no Fifth Amendment implications. Cf. McKune v. Lile, 536 U.S. 24 (2002) (holding Fifth Amendment was not implicated when defendant's refusal to participate in sexual abuse treatment program, including the required disclosure of all prior sexual activities irrespective of whether they were uncharged criminal offenses and no immunity had been offered, resulted in loss of privileges and possible transfer to a more dangerous prison). Most of Wiley's testimony was related to her observations of Arbelaez on a weekly basis and his adaptability to his environment as reflected in his ability to: (1) obey directions, (2) care/groom himself, (3) follow required death row activities, (4) have appropriate time management, (5) exhibit social and interview skills, and (6) learn a second language as an adult. Based upon this, and her understanding of the criteria for mental retardation, Wiley would not classify Arbelaez as mentally retarded. (PCR2 V5 87780, 892-98, 949-52). Wiley's testimony did not touch upon the criminal events, and thus, further distinguishes the instant matter from Estelle, 451 U.S. 464-65.

With respect to the Sixth Amendment challenge, Estelle offers Arbelaez no support. 25 Again, this is a postconviction setting where the conviction and sentence are final, thus, the Sixth Amendment is not implicated and a defendant's activities prison are not critical stages of a "prosecution" necessitating the offer of legal counsel as Arbelaez suggests. <u>See Texas v. Cobb</u>, 532 U.S. 162, 167-68 (2001) (holding "defendant's statements regarding offenses for which he had not been charged were admissible notwithstanding the attachment of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel on other charged offenses"); Smith v. State, 699 So.2d 629, 639 (Fla. 1997) (stating "right to counsel under either the Sixth Amendment or Article I, section 16, [Florida Constitution,] offense-specific"). As recognized in Nivens v. U.S., 139 F.2d 226, 228 (5th Cir. 1943), "[t]he right to counsel afforded by Sixth Amendment is expressly limited to 'criminal prosecutions.'" Bradley v. United States, 410 U.S. 605, 609

²⁵Estelle v. Smith, 451 U.S. 454 (1981) involved a pre-trial competency exam ordered without the defense counsel's knowledge and was used to support the imposition of the death penalty. Here, we have no such compelled examination. The contacts Wiley had with Arbelaez were subject to his discretion to refuse.

(1973) provides that "final judgment" is defined as "sentence" and that the prosecution terminates with the imposition of the Here, Arbelaez's convictions and sentences were sentence. and his right to counsel for the affirmed on appeal "prosecution" of the homicide and kidnapping had terminated. such, he did not have a right to have counsel present during routine contacts with mental health professionals which only became relevant once Arbelaez filed his postconviction motion The State challenging penalty phase counsel's representation. should not be deprived of relevant evidence, especially where no Sixth Amendment right has attached.

However, should Wiley's testimony be deemed improper, such was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial court did not reference Wiley's testimony in her denial of relief. Further, the determination that Arbelaez was not mentally retarded was supported by the testimony of Drs. Haber and Ruiz. As such, the finding that Arbelaez is not mentally retarded and that defense counsel rendered effective assistance is supported substantial, competent evidence independent of observations. The denial of postconviction relief should be affirmed.

ISSUE IV

THE SUMMARY DENIAL OF ARBELAEZ'S SUPPLEMENTAL 3.850 MOTION WAS PROPER

(restated)

Arbelaez asserts it was error to deny summarily his supplemental motion addressed to Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) and Atkins v. Virginia, 122 S.Ct. 2242 (2002) without obtaining a response from the State and without conducting a hearing pursuant to Huff v. State, 622 SO. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993). The denial was proper as Arbelaez's attempt to supplement was unauthorized given the limited nature of the remand. Also, the Ring issue was procedurally barred as it could have been raised in prior litigation. However, if oral argument should have been permitted, the denial remains proper the claim as procedurally barred and challenges to the death penalty statute under Ring have been rejected repeatedly. This Court should affirm.

The standard of review for a trial court's determination regarding a motion to amend a Rule 3.851 motion is whether there was an abuse of discretion. Huff v. State, 762 So. 2d 476, 481 (Fla. 2000). The summary denial was correct because the postconviction claim was before the trial court based upon a remand from this Court on the specific issue of holding an evidentiary hearing on the claim of ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel. A new issue could not be added to the well defined claim, thus, the matter was denied properly. In

remanding the case, this Court found it was error not to grant an evidentiary hearing "as to Arbelaez's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present expert testimony as to his epilepsy and other mental health mitigation and for failing to introduce evidence of his family history of abuse", but affirmed the balance of the summarily denied claims.

Arbelaez, 775 So. 2d at 912. The parameters of the evidentiary hearing were set by this Court.

On September 9, 2002, almost nine months after the evidentiary January 2002 evidentiary hearing concluded, Arbelaez filed a supplement to his amended postconviction motion (PCR2 V1 211-44). The motion was based upon Ring and Atkins. Under either case, the motion was unauthorized and untimely as new factual allegations or claims may not be added unless the defendant meets the test for successive or untimely motions.

Cf. Vining v. State, 827 So. 2d 201, 212-13 (Fla. 2002) (opining "defendant may not raise claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on a piecemeal basis by refining his or her claims to include additional factual allegations after the postconviction court concludes that no evidentiary hearing is required); Moore v. State, 820 So. 2d 199, 205 (Fla. 2002) (affirming court's refusal to consider third amended postconviction motion which was not based upon public records received after second amended

motion); <u>Pope v. State</u>, 702 So. 2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997) (holding defendant may not raise claims on piecemeal basis). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying relief.

The denial was also proper because Arbelaez was procedurally barred from challenging the death penalty statute under Ring or Atkins. The issues arising under Ring or a variation of it have been known prior to Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 252 (1976) (holding Constitution does not require jury sentencing). See Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 638 (1989); Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447 (1984). Likewise, challenges to the execution of the mentally retarded under the Eighth Amendment are procedurally barred. See Brown v. State, 755 So. 2d 616, 621 n.7 (Fla. 2000) (postconviction claim that Eighth Amendment forbids execution of mentally retarded was procedurally barred); Woods v. State, 531 So. 2d 79 (Fla. 1988). As such, the basis for the claim of constitutional error in the imposition of the death penalty has been available since Arbelaez was sentenced to death. Yet, he did not raise the claim until now. 26 Arbelaez

²⁶Any issue which was or could have been raised in the prior collateral pleading is procedurally barred. <u>See Lambrix v. Singletary</u>, 641 So. 2d 847, 848 (Fla. 1994) (opining "[b]ecause ineffective assistance of counsel claims have been considered and rejected in a previous petition, Lambrix is procedurally barred from raising such claims again in a subsequent habeas petition"); <u>Aldridge v. State</u>, 503 So. 2d 1257 (Fla. 1987) (defendant procedurally barred from raising claim when such claim was raised previously even though current claim is based

has not given an explanation for his failure to raise this issue earlier.

Moreover, in his 1995 postconviction litigation, Arbelaez challenged aspects of the death penalty statute and instruction on constitutional grounds. (PCR1 V1 86, 84, 99, 107, 111, 113, 118; 136-204). See Arbelaez, 775 So. 2d at 912, 915, 919, n.8 (finding constitutional challenges to death penalty statute and/or instructions procedurally barred and meritless). The trial court correctly found that the instant challenge to the death penalty statute was procedurally barred and relief should be denied.

However, should this Court find that a hearing was required, relief is not warranted. The trial court's decision should be affirmed based upon the following arguments as the ruling was right even if the wrong reason was announced. See Robertson v. State, 829 So. 2d 901 (Fla. 2002) (recognizing doctrine that "matter will be affirmed even if the trial court ruled for the

on different issue). This Court has consistently and repeatedly stated collateral review does not constitute a second appeal. Issues that were or could have been raised on direct appeal or in prior collateral proceedings may not be litigated anew. See Teffeteller v. Dugger, 734 So. 2d 1009, 1025 (Fla. 1999) (holding habeas petition claims were procedurally barred because claims were raised on direct appeal and rejected or could have been raised on direct appeal); Johnson v. Singletary, 695 So. 2d 263, 265 (Fla. 1996); Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1990)(stating it is inappropriate to use different argument to re-litigate same issue).

wrong reasons, as long as the evidence or an alternative theory supports the ruling"); Muhammad v. State, 782 So. 2d 343, 359 (Fla. 2001); Caso v. State, 524 So. 2d 422, 424 (Fla. 1988). The issues raised under Ring and Atkins will be addressed separately.

1. Ring v. Arizona - Ring is not retroactive and the United States Supreme Court has not overruled any of its cases upholding Florida's capital sentencing scheme. Moreover, the statutory maximum for first-degree murder is death upon conviction, thus, Ring does not apply to Florida's capital sentencing. Because Arbelaez has a contemporaneous felony conviction, even under Ring the sentence is proper. The trial court correctly denied relief even though this Court may find it was for the wrong reason.

Under the dictates of <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So. 2d 922, 929-30 (Fla. 1980) and <u>New v. State</u>, 807 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2001), <u>Ring</u> is retroactive. ²⁷ A new decision is entitled to retroactive application only where it is of fundamental significance, which so drastically alters the underpinnings of the sentence that "obvious injustice" exists. <u>Witt</u>, 387 So. 2d at 929-30. The

²⁷In <u>DeStefano v. Woods</u>, 392 U.S. 631 (1968), the Supreme Court held a violation of the right to a jury trial is not to be applied retroactively. <u>See Proffitt v. Florida</u>, 428 U.S. 242, 252 (1976) (holding Constitution does not require jury sentencing)

Supreme Court rejected retroactive application of Apprendi v.

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